

The Relationship between Food Security Policy Measures and WTO Trade Rules

David Elliott based on a full-length document by Kim Burnett



Prepared by David Elliott, based on a full-length report by Kim Burnett, available at: http://quno.org/resource/2015/11/relationship-between-key-food-security-measures-and-trade-rules

This paper will also be available in French and Spanish at http://quno.org/areas-of-work/food-sustainability.

Suggested citation: David Elliott and Kim Burnett (2015), *The Relationship between food security policy measures and WTO trade rules*, (Quaker United Nations Office, Geneva).

All QUNO work is published under a Creative Commons licence. More information and full details of the licence are available at http://creativecommons.org. Copies of all QUNO publications can be downloaded free from our website: quno.org. Hard copies are available on request.

Cover photo: 'Floating Market' by Ciao Ho/Flickr

A note about Food and Sustainability at QUNO

The Food & Sustainability programme of the Quaker United Nations Office addresses the complex and intertwined issues of trade and innovation policy and how they relate to poverty, hunger and food insecurity. We look at these issues with a particular focus on small-scale farmers, including fisherfolk, forest dwellers and pastoralists, a critical yet largely unheard voice in trade and innovation policy-making. Our work is collaborative, providing the space where it is safe to think, share and explore creative alternatives to a food system that does not work for the majority of the world's population.

Half the world's food today is produced by 1.5 billion small-scale farmers. The figure is higher for food produced in the non-industrialized world -- up to 80%. Small-scale farmers are stewards of biodiversity; they maintain, adapt, improve and distribute plant varieties. The agricultural biological diversity they enhance and develop provides a major contribution to health and nutrition. They find ways to deal with new pests and disease. They are also active players in critical ecosystem processes, developing and adapting ideas for nutrient cycling, effective water use and the maintenance of soil fertility, both traditional and from elsewhere. Who could be better placed to help the world cope with global environmental change and feed the world than over a billion small-scale farmers living, working and experimenting on the front lines of change? Our work aims to ensure that trade and innovation policy are supportive of, and do not undermine, the critical role of small-scale farmers in providing local and global food security and the resilience we will need to facing ever-increasing environmental change.

For more information please contact:

Susan H. Bragdon Representative, Food & Sustainability shbragdon@quno.ch

Table of Contents

I. Introduction	1
II. Food Security and Trade	2
Food Security: Evolution of a Concept	2
Shifts in Policy	3
Trade and Agriculture	4
Trade and food security: the new paradigm	6
III. Domestic support at the WTO	9
Domestic support rules	9
General exceptions	11
Challenges for developing countries	12
IV. Conclusion	17

I. Introduction

The concept of food security has evolved separately from the incorporation of agriculture into international trade rules via the World Trade Organization (WTO). Trade rules were not designed to ensure food security, and as such are not always in alignment with its achievement.

The logic of trade liberalization, in which barriers to the free exchange of goods are removed or reduced to the greatest extent possible, lies behind the global trade rules framework. Proponents of trade liberalization hold that it will increase the availability and accessibility of food worldwide. Critics believe that liberalization, in exposing developing countries to volatile international markets and constraining their domestic policy options, will threaten food security and undermine rural development.

Governments' freedom to take appropriate measures to support food security and rural livelihoods in their own countries can be restricted by their obligations under the WTO. This is exacerbated by the ambiguous nature of many provisions in the WTO rules, which are subject to conflicting interpretation. This can work against developing countries, many of whom lack the legal and administrative capacity to effectively navigate the complex rules framework.

This report first provides a historical overview of both the concept of food security and the incorporation of agriculture into international trade negotiations. It then turns to the relationship between food security policy options and the WTO's trade rules, and highlights opportunities for governments to implement policies that support food security while meeting their international obligations. It concludes by laying out a range of policy measures to enhance food security, assessing the compatibility of each with WTO regulations.

Development (ICTSD) and World Economic Forum, 2014).

¹ Pascal Lamy, The Geneva Consensus: Making Trade Work for All (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2013).

² Olivier de Schutter, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the right to food, Olivier de Schutter – Addendum: Mission to the World Trade Organization, A/HRC/10/5/Add.2, (Geneva: Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2009). Bipul Chatterjee and Sophia Murphy, Trade and Food Security (Geneva: International Centre for Trade and Sustainable

II. Food Security and Trade

Food Security: Evolution of a Concept

Our collective understanding of what is meant by 'food security' has evolved since the concept was introduced in the 1970s. Food security was first conceptualized as an issue of food availability. This was influenced by high commodity prices during the 1972-3 global food crisis, which were thought at the time to be the result of global production shortfalls.³ Thus policies of the time focused on production, i.e. increasing and stabilizing supply, with the aim of ensuring price stability. However, as our understanding of the causes of hunger evolved, so too did the concept of food security. Amartya Sen's 1981 essay on famines introduced and prioritized the idea of food accessibility over availability.4 This access component was incorporated by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

Subsequent refinements to accessibility have considered temporal factors (the concept of 'chronic' food insecurity), macroeconomic conditions, conflict, food preferences and cultural diets, and nutrition – resulting in the

"As our understanding of the causes of hunger evolved, so too did the concept of food security."

1996 World Food Summit definition, which is still used predominantly today: "Food security exists when all people, at all times, have physical, social and economic access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food which meets their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life." In addition to availability and access, the definition is based on two other pillars: utility (including distribution within families, nutritional composition,

⁽FAO) in its updated definition of food security that year.

³ Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Trade Reforms and Food Security (Rome: FAO, 2003).

⁴ Amartya Sen, Poverty and Famines: An Essay on Entitlement and Deprivation (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1981).

⁵ Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), World Food Summit Plan of Action (Rome: FAO, 1996).

access to clean water, cultural relevance and food safety) and stability (including the temporal aspect and vulnerability to price volatility).

Shifts in Policy

The evolving understanding of what is meant by food security has shaped national and international policies designed to address hunger. The focus in the 1970s on food availability gave rise to policies that aimed to increase national supply and develop national and regional food reserves. During

this Green Revolution era, hightech solutions to production challenges were pursued, such as early warning weather systems, the development of high-yielding varieties, modernized farm management practices and the use of chemical fertilizers and pesticides.⁶ These measures made possible remarkable increases in cereal production and productivity.⁷

⁶ Lucy Jarosz, "Comparing Food Security and Food Sovereignty Discourses," Dialogues in Human Geography. 4:2 (2004): 168-181.
7 Gurdev S. Khush, "Green revolution: the way forward," Nature Reviews Genetics 2, 815-822,



(2001).

Combine harvester at work. Photo credit: Greg Knapp/Flickr

The FAO credits productivity gains during the Green Revolution with averting an impending food crisis in Asia and serving as bedrock for rapid economic growth and poverty reduction China, South Asia and Southeast Asia.⁸

While considerable progress was made in tackling traditional proteincalorie deficiencies, the unintended consequences of the Green Revolution included dietary simplification, malnutrition and micronutrient deficiencies.9 Whole populations were left behind in accessing the benefits. The application of modern techniques and technologies was concentrated in already-favourable areas, and as a result poverty reduction in marginal production environments languished.¹⁰ Existing power disparities such as unequal distribution of assets (particularly land) weakened the positive effects of agricultural growth on poverty reduction.11

The incorporation of the access dimension in the 1980s shifted the unit of analysis from national self-sufficiency to individual or household food security. This introduced the premise that food insecurity was best tackled by reducing poverty – shifting the focus away from agricultural development as a catalyst for development more broadly defined. With this came an emphasis on free trade, as a means of facilitating more efficient production, more rapid agricultural development and thus improved livelihoods.

Trade and Agriculture

Prior to the establishment of the World Trade Organization (WTO) in 1995, agriculture was effectively exempted from international trade regulations, largely due to resistance from the US and other industrialized countries seeking to protect and support their domestic agricultural sectors. ¹² In 1955, the US was granted a waiver from the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) obligations. This benefited producers in other

⁸ Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), "Towards a New Green Revolution," N.D.

⁹ Emile Frison, "Indispensable Resources," Development and Cooperation, (2008).

¹⁰ Prabhu L. Pingali, "Green Revolution: Impacts, limits and the path ahead," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109:31, (2012).

¹¹ United Kingdom Department for International Development (DFID), "Agriculture,

growth and poverty reduction," DFID Working Paper, (2004).

¹² Rorden Wilkinson, The WTO: Crisis and Governance of Global Trade (London: Routledge, 2006).

countries, due to lax enforcement of the prohibition on import and export restrictions. Export subsidies in European countries took off after the Second World War and the region became a net food exporter by the 1970s.¹³

"The deal that emerged during the Uruguay Round remained weighted in favour of developing countries."

This situation had become untenable by the 1980s. Spending on agricultural supports in OECD countries was high and there was growing dissatisfaction among some net food exporters in the developing world, prompting calls for agriculture to be subjected to GATT 'disciplines'. Liberalization of agricultural trade commenced during the Uruguay Round (1986-94) of multilateral trade negotiations, resulting in the Agreement on

Agriculture (AoA). The AoA sought to:

- Improve market access by reducing agricultural market protections such as quotas and converting them to tariffs ("tariffication")
- Reduce and remove all domestic support measures considered to be trade-distorting, such as market price support
- End export subsidies

During the Uruguay Round, developing countries made concessions on domestic support in order to gain greater access to agricultural markets in developed countries and ensure that developed countries reduced their export subsidies. However, the deal that emerged during the Round remained weighted in favour of developed countries. Developing countries sought and secured recognition of the development dimension of international trade in the Doha Round, which began in November 2001. The Round became known semi-officially as the Doha Development Agenda (DDA), but its original development goals failed to live up to their promise due to a lack of political will in subsequent

¹³ Kamal Malhotra et al, Making Global Trade Work for People, (New York: United Nations Development Programme, 2003).

¹⁴ Jennifer Clapp, "WTO Agriculture Negotiations: implications for the Global South," Third World Quarterly, 27:4 (2006): 564. Malhotra et al, Making Global Trade Work for People, p. 110.

years.¹⁵ Agriculture was a main point of contention, in particular "the gap in level of ambition between market access and domestic support."¹⁶

Nearly 20 years after the closure of the Uruguay Round, negotiators were finally able to make some modest progress towards incorporating development measures into agricultural trade rules during the WTO Bali Ministerial Conference in December 2013. The 'Bali Package' includes some preferential rules for Least Developed Countries (see below).17 However, despite this progress, there remain significant differences in opinion between developed and developing countries. In particular, the issue of domestic support, used as a bargaining chip during the Uruguay Round, has since the food price crisis of 2007-8 returned to the forefront of debates around the purpose of agricultural trade.18

Trade and food security: the new paradigm

Modern food security policymaking has returned to an emphasis on production and the liberalization of agricultural trade. Under this framework, increased yields, improved nutrition and greater resource efficiency are to be achieved simultaneously through a second Green Revolution based on modern seed technologies, productive inputs and genetic engineering.19 Trade liberalization and the Green Revolution are premised on similar logic: increased food availability as a result of productivity gains will, if underpinned by solid growth rates, guarantee food security into the future.20

2014).

19 Prabhu Pingali and Terri Raney, "From the Green Revolution to the Gene Revolution: How will the poor fare?" (Rome: FAO, 2005). 20 See the communications of the Cairns Group, a group of 20 agricultural exporters from the global North and South, e.g. their communiqué issued during the Bali Ministerial: "We understand that open, fair and wellfunctioning markets spur investment, and create new opportunities for growth in output and improvements in farmers' incomes. Furthermore, we recognise policies which distort trade and production in agricultural products can impede long term food security." Available at: http://cairnsgroup.org/pages/131202-communique.aspx

¹⁵ Sungjoon Cho, "The Demise of Development in the Doha Round Negotiations," Texas International Law Journal 45:3 (2010): 574-601. 16 Pascal Lamy, 'Informal TNC meeting at the level of Head of Delegation: Chairman's Introductory Remarks,' 2006.

¹⁷ WTO, "Bali Package and November 2014 Decisions."

¹⁸ South Centre, "Analytical Note – Subsidies and food security in WTO: a permanent solution is still pending," (Geneva: South Centre,



Eutrophication and aquatic hypoxia. Photo credit: F. Lamiot/Wikimedia Commons

Critics have suggested that this logic does not hold in practice.²¹ Agriculture in developed countries remains heavily subsidized, which has artificially depressed food prices on global markets. Low prices can benefit the urban poor but disenfranchise producers.²² Food import dependence exposes countries to food price volatility, as in the food crises of the 1970s and 2007-2008.²³ Cambridge economist

Ha-Joon Chang has detailed how the same industrialized countries who today advocate for liberalization once made extensive use of such subsidies, policy supports and market productions as part of their own economic development.²⁴

Opening developing countries up to international markets may also have

Food-Importing Developing Countries: Who They Are, and Policy Options for Global Price Volatility, (Geneva: International Centre for Trade and Sustainable Development, 2012). 24 Ha-Joon Chang, Kicking Away the Ladder: Development Strategy in Historical Perspective (London: Anthem Press, 2002). Ha-Joon Chang, "Rethinking Public Policy in Agriculture: Lessons from Distant and Recent History", Policy Assistance Series, 7 (Rome: FAO, 2009).

²¹ Jennifer Clapp, Trade Liberalization and Food Security: Examining the Linkages, (Geneva: Quaker United Nations Office, 2014).
22 Olivier de Schutter, The World Trade Organization and the Post-Global Food Crisis Agenda: Putting Food Security First in the International Trade System (2011).

²³ Alberto Valdés and William Foster, Net

"Some have suggested that agricultural trade has been particularly damaging for small-scale farmers, who produce as much as 70% of the world's food."

unintended consequences similar to those of the Green Revolution. Nutrition transitions associated with trade liberalization can have a significant impact on the prevalence of chronic non-communicable diseases such as obesity and diabetes.²⁵ Trade liberalization can also lead to irreversible changes in modes of agricultural production, threatening food stability.26 Furthermore, markets are poorly configured to take account of socio-economic and environmental externalities, such as biodiversity loss, acceleration of climate change, erosion of soil and pollution of water systems, which could put the future of

Relatively neglected in this discussion is the need to support small-scale farmers in their role as innovators and custodians of agrobiodiversity, and thus building the capacity of farming systems to adapt to uncertain future growing conditions. Some have suggested that agricultural trade has been particularly damaging for small-scale farmers, who produce as much as 70% of the world's food and who are often the custodians of the world's biodiversity.²⁸

Greater space within the multilateral rules framework is necessary for governments in developing countries to provide market supports and protections in line with their food security objectives. However, trade regulations are to a certain extent now a permanent fixture of the international architecture, and policymakers wishing to promote and safeguard food security must take them into consideration.

food production at risk.27

²⁵ Ghose Bishwajit et al, "Trade Liberalization, Urbanization and Nutrition Transition in Asian Countries," Journal of Nutritional Health and Food Science, (2014).

²⁶ United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), "Integrated Assessment of the Impact of Trade Liberalization: A Country Study of the Impact of Trade Liberalization," (Nairobi: UNEP, 2005).

²⁷ Jonathan Foley et al., "Solutions for a cultivated planet," Nature 478 (2011): 337-342.
28 Peter Rosset, "The Multiple Functions and Benefits of Small Farm Agriculture in the Context of Global Trade Negotiations," Development 42:2 (2000): 77-82.

III. Domestic support at the WTO

Many of the provisions within the international regulatory framework for agricultural trade are ambiguous and often subject to conflicting interpretation. This ambiguity can exert a chilling effect on domestic food security policies, as risk-averse governments cannot be completely confident that a given policy will not provoke a trade dispute within the WTO.29 Most of the rules governing agricultural trade fall under the WTO Agreement on Agriculture (AoA), but also discussed here are the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) and the agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures (SCM).

Domestic support rules

The total amount of non-exempt domestic support that a government provides to its own agricultural sector is called the 'Total Aggregate Measurement of Support' (Total AMS). Under the AoA, developed country Members committed to reducing their AMS by 20% over 6 years (from 1986-88 levels), while developed countries committed to a reduction of 13% over 10 years. The AoA also specifies which kinds of supports are considered exempt from AMS calculations. Types of domestic support, or subsidy groups, are categorized into three 'boxes' (Table 1).

Amber box measures are subject to AMS reduction commitments and include those intended "to support prices, or subsidies directly related to production quantities." The de minimis rule is an important qualification to amber box measures. Under the de minimis provision, developing countries are not required to reduce trade-distorting domestic support when, in any given year:

- 1. The aggregate value of the product-specific support is not greater than 10% of the supported product's aggregate value; or
- 2. Non-product specific support is less than 10% of the value of total

²⁹ De Schutter, The World Trade Organization and the Post-Global Food Crisis Agenda. Carmen G. Gonzalez, "Institutionalizing Inequality: The WTO Agreement on Agriculture, Food Security, and Developing Countries," Columbia J. Environ. Law, 27 (2002): 433-489.

³⁰ World Trade Organization (WTO), "Background Fact Sheet: Domestic Support in Agriculture."

AoA subsidy group	Description	Trade- distorting?	Subjection to reduction commitments?
Amber box	All domestic supports except those in the green and blue boxes; support prices and production subsidies.	Yes	Yes. De minimis rule is the only exception.
Blue box	Support payments for limiting production by imposing production quotas or requiring farmers to set aside part of their land.	Less than amber box	No, provided they are linked to fixed areas and yield and production is taking place.
Green box	Supports such as research, extension, food security stocks, disaster payments, environmental protection, animal welfare and structural adjustment programs.	Minimally	No
Developmental measures	Exempt subsidies and supports designed to provide agricultural and rural development support.	N/A	No

Table 1: Analysis of subsidy groups under the WTO Agreement on Agriculture

agricu	ltura	l proc	luction	L
--------	-------	--------	---------	---

The equivalent de minimis ceiling for developed countries is 5%.

Green box supports are considered

to be non- or minimally-trade distorting and are thus exempt from reduction commitments. It allows for specific government services, such as research, training and extension services, infrastructural development and domestic food aid.

The green box also contains provisions for direct payments to producers that are unrelated to production (known as decoupling). Under this system, decoupled income support and natural disaster relief are allowed; direct price support is not. Most policy recommendations that are focused on supporting small-scale farmers in developing countries will fall under the green box allowances, which account for about 60% of public support for agricultural sectors in developing countries.³¹

Blue box supports allow for support to production limiting programs, so long as they are made to fixed areas and yield or fixed numbers of livestock, and are exempt from reduction commitments.³² An example may be payments to producers for setting aside a portion of their land to lie fallow.

Developmental measures are

exempt subsidies that are designed to provide agricultural and rural development support, both direct and indirect, that are considered an "integral part of the development programmes of developing countries."³³ They include investment subsidies, agricultural input subsidies to low-income and resource-poor producers, and supports to producers encouraging diversification away from illegal narcotic production.³⁴

The Marrakech Ministerial
Decision on Measures Concerning
the Possible Negative Effects
of the Reform Programme on
Least-Developed and Net FoodImporting Developing Countries
was designed to address concerns
around rising food prices as
a result of agricultural trade
liberalization.³⁵ However, its focus
is aid, not promoting the capacity of
developing countries to implement
food security policies.

General exceptions

³¹ De Schutter, The World Trade Organization and the Post-Global Food Crisis Agenda.
32 Article 6.5 of the WTO Agreement on Agriculture (AoA). N. Hag Elamin, "Agreement on Agriculture: Domestic Support Measures," Multilateral Trade Negotiations on Agriculture: A Resource Manual (Rome: FAO, 2000).

³³ Elamin, "Agreement on Agriculture: Domestic Support Measures."

³⁴ Article 6.2 of the WTO AoA.

³⁵ FAO, "Marrakesh Decision" (N.D.), accessed at: http://www.fao.org/economic/est/international-trade/negotiations/uruguay-round/marrakesh/en/



Central market in Port Louis. Photo credit: Marian One/Flickr

There is a limited set of circumstances, laid out in Article XX of the GATT, under which governments can discriminate against other countries in their trade policies. In particular, Article XX (b) allows for the adoption of such measures when "necessary to protect human, animal and plant life or health." This is conditional on the measures not being "applied in a manner which would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination between countries where the same conditions prevail, or a disguised restriction on international trade."36

Article XX (b) provides a potential opening for exceptions to be made on the grounds of, for example, realizing the right to food, achieving food security, or preserving environmental integrity.³⁷ Exceptions have been honoured in rulings under GATT Article XX from the WTO dispute settlement mechanism, notably on some environmental issues, under particular conditions and restrictions.³⁸ However, states

³⁷ The right to food is enshrined in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, which has been ratified by 160 states. See: General Comment 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. 38 See for example Elizabeth R. DeSombre and J. Samuel Barkin, "Turtles and Trade: The WTO's Acceptance of Environmental Trade

³⁶ GATT Art XX (b).

advocating for greater market protections risk exposing themselves to challenges within the WTO by proponents of free market policies. Moreover, empirical analysis has demonstrated that the WTO dispute settlement mechanism tends to work to the disadvantage of states with weak legal capacity³⁹ – very often the states whose agricultural producers are most in need of support.

Challenges for developing countries

The rules governing domestic agricultural support pose four main challenges for developing countries looking to implement non-trade distorting food security measures:

1. Many policies that developing countries would like to see integrated into green box

Restrictions." Global Environmental Politics 2:1 (2002). In this case, the WTO allowed for environmental concerns to take precedence over adherence to WTO regulations, but under specific circumstances that demonstrated that the international trade system was bound by principles of sustainable development.

39 Marc Busch and Krzysztof Pelic, 'Dispute Settlement in the WTO,' in Lisa Martin (ed.), The Oxford Handbook of the Political Economy of International Trade, (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2015).

exemptions are excluded. Examples of such policies include farmer settlement, land reform and public stockholding. Oritically, policies not exempt under the green box may automatically be considered trade-distorting, even if they do not have this effect in practice. These policies can then take up a country's de minimis allowance and, beyond this allowance, become subject to reduction commitments.

- 2. Many of the exemptions that permit investment require administrative capacities that developing countries often lack.⁴²
- 3. Reduction commitments are measured against the amount of agricultural support in 1986-8. This can create problems for developing countries whose AMS levels were already low (in many cases at zero) during this period due to political and fiscal constraints. Conversely, allowances for industrialised

⁴⁰ South Centre, "The WTO's Bali Ministerial and Food Security for Developing Countries: Need for Equity and Justice in the Rules on Agricultural Subsidies", (2013).

⁴¹ De Schutter, The World Trade Organization and the Post-Global Food Crisis Agenda.

⁴³ South Centre, "Subsidies and food security in WTO."

countries tend to be much higher, as their levels of support were high in 1986-8. In more than half of industrialised countries, support exceeded 50% of agricultural GDP at the time.⁴⁴

4. Currency adjustments and high inflation rates in developing countries further reduces their nominal support allowances.

Unclear provisions within the AoA intended to take account of these effects do not specify what qualifies as "an excessive rate of inflation", and attempts by some countries to adjust their external reference prices to reflect inflation rates have been

questioned by the WTO's Committee on Agriculture.

Given these challenges, what are the options for a WTO member state looking to safeguard food security domestically while avoiding a dispute within the WTO? Table 2 presents a range of possible measures for enhancing food security and examines their relationship to the reduction requirements under the WTO's domestic support rules.⁴⁵

⁴⁵ Elamin, "Agreement on Agriculture: Domestic Support Measures."

Food security policy	Contribution to food security	Relationship to trade rules
National food reserves	Price and supply stability. Emergency food aid during times of shortage.	Exempt under Annex 2; some restrictions discourage use and are currently calculated as part of AMS. New exemption negotiated by India and US extended to existing stockholdings.

⁴⁴ Kamal Malotra et al., Making Global Trade Work for People, (New York: United Nations Development Programme, 2003).

	Hard infrastructure increases access to markets and availability of inputs, and lower transaction costs.	Specific exemptions listed in Annex 2
Investment in agriculture	Storage mitigates losses from post-harvest waste. Extension services may be used to improve access to technologies and practices to assist farmers with improved production and market participation.	Ambiguous. Depends on whether support is considered product-related or for the indiscriminate benefit of rural communities and resource-poor producers. Surpluses may distort prices. Could fall within de minimis limits.
	Information and Communication Technologies provides market and weather information, extension services, early warnings and facilitates monitoring of development projects.	Specific exemptions listed in Annex 2
Agricultural Input Subsidies	Fertilizer and seed inputs, water use and transportation services.	Constrained under WTO rules. Exemptions: de minimis allowances; development measures
Research and Development	Yield increases, biotic stress resistance, climate resilience, other sustainability, production and quality traits. Benefits depend on focus and how new research prioritizes smallholders and sustainability.	No restrictions, exempt under Annex 2.2(a), must not provide price support to producers.

Extension Services	Dissemination of advice and information, increase uptake of technologies and new practices. Benefits depend on focus and how advice, information, and research prioritizes sustainability as well as farmer to farmer exchange of best practices, advice and information.	No restrictions, exempt under Annex 2.3(d)
	Price supports have varied impact on domestic market prices: lower prices to increase accessibility for consumers; raise prices to support producers and boost production.	Explicitly prohibited. Exemptions: Blue box allowances for limiting production; de minimis allowances.
Price Supports	Marketing boards & STEs provide guaranteed and stable market for producers; stabilize supply in domestic markets and ensure affordable supply for consumers; increase import/export efficiency; counter consolidated market power; especially beneficial where there is a lack of infrastructure.	Permitted under certain conditions. Must be non-discriminatory and non tradedistorting. STEs with import monopolies and those which stabilize domestic prices are exempt.
Direct Consumer Subsidies	Food stamps and school feeding programs targeting resource-poor consumers.	No restrictions

Export restrictions	Control domestic supply and prices, keep prices low for consumers; imposed during times of shortage and natural disaster. Can have negative impact on food security.	Article XI of GATT prohibits direct export restrictions but simultaneously allows duties, taxes and other charges that can effectively restrict exports limitlessly.
Import Protections	Protect domestic production and income of producers; increase price stability and political stability. Can have negative impacts in terms of increased prices for consumers and less competition that leads to efficiency gains.	Trade distorting. Exemptions: de minimis allowances; protection of vulnerable domestic sectors through Special Safeguard Mechanism; allowances under GATT require significant legal and institutional capacities.

Table 2: Compatibility of various food security policies with existing domestic support reduction requirements within the WTO

IV. Conclusion

International agricultural trade is a powerful tool for contributing to poverty reduction and food security, both of which are globally recognized development priorities. However, the argument that sufficiently liberalized agricultural trade can by itself guarantee food security ignores their distinct historical trajectories and, moreover, does not hold up to the evidence. Ensuring that the benefits

of agricultural growth are equitably distributed may require strong public sector support and investment. Such support can be provided in a manner consistent with WTO obligations. National governments can take advantage of the exemptions available to them, defend this existing policy space and advocate for trade rules that reflect a more evolved understanding of food security.



QUNO offices:

In Geneva: 13 Avenue du Mervelet 1209 Geneva Switzerland

Tel: +41 22 748 4800 Fax: +41 22 748 4819 quno@quno.ch In New York: 777 UN Plaza New York, NY 10017 United States

Tel: +1 212 682 2745 Fax: +1 212 983 0034 qunony@afsc.org

The Quaker United Nations Office

The Quaker UN Office, located in Geneva and New York, represents Friends World Committee for Consultation (Quakers), an international non-governmental organisation with General Consultative Status at the UN.

QUNO works to promote the peace and justice concerns of Friends (Quakers) from around the world at the UN and other global institutions. It is supported by the American Friends Service Committee, Britain Yearly Meeting, the worldwide community of Friends, other groups and individuals.

quno.org